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Introduction

Information is one of the oldest and most powerful resources created by the human race. Archives contain information and are a great national resource as they document the history and identity of communities nationwide. They also protect the interests of individuals, organisations, and society in general. Archival material is generally over thirty years old and is often paper-based, however, other media can include vellum and parchment, photographs, slides, maps, plans and drawings, film, video, and sound recordings. The main objective of the archivist is to manage archival material ensuring its long-term protection, preservation and accessibility. 

Clare County Archives was established in 1999 and provides an integrated cultural and information service to researchers at home and abroad. The County Archives aim to maintain the highest preservation standards possible for the collections in its care while seeking to maximise public knowledge of and access to archives. The Archives is a county-wide service and in addition to local authority records, it also collects other material relating to the county including private papers, solicitors papers, architectural drawings, maps and plans, estate papers, photographic collections, and records of academic, social, and economic institutions. 

Documents can be requested from Clare County Archives by letter, telephone, or e-mail, and at least one day’s notice will be required for the production of material. This material will then be made available to researchers through Clare County Library's Local Studies Centre. 

As material is processed and listed it will be made available for public inspection. Each researcher must read the rules for researchers and complete a research application form before accessing archival material. These documents can be acquired at the main desk.

For further information contact: 

Clare County Archives
Clare County Council
New Road 
Ennis
Co. Clare 

Telephone: (065) 6846414


Fax: (065) 6820882


Email: archivesrecords@clarecoco.ie

Web:
www.clare.ie/Archives/Archives.html


www.clarelibrary.ie/eolas/archives/archives_index.htm   

Roger Casement Papers
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Introduction

The Roger Casement papers were deposited in Clare County Library by the late Ignatius M. Houlihan, Solicitor, Ennis, in 1969. Houlihan had received a gift of the papers by a member of one of the noble families in Europe. This collection was finally transferred to Clare County Archives in October 2003.

Roger Casement was born in Dublin on 1 September 1864, the son of a Protestant father, also Roger Casement (1819-1877), and a Catholic mother, Anne Casement (née Jephson, 1834-1873). Casement’s mother passed away during childbirth when Casement was aged just nine years, followed by his father four years later, leaving behind four children, Casement, his sister Agnes and two brothers Tom and Charles. The children were taken in by their Uncle John in Antrim and Casement attended Ballymena High School. On leaving school, Casement was employed by the Elder Dempster Shipping Company in Liverpool until 1883 when he experienced his first taste of Africa, working as a purser on board an African trading vessel. Casement secured other positions in Africa during the 1880s and in 1892, was recruited by the British Foreign Office to serve in the Oil Rivers Protectorate at Old Calabar. Casement’s consular work took him to Mozambique, Angola, the Congo Free State and Brazil, and he gained international respect for his reports exposing the atrocities inflicted on native workers in the Congo and the Amazon, by European traders. Casement’s humanitarian work was rewarded in 1911 with a knighthood. He resigned from the Foreign Office in 1913 due to ill health and returned home to Ireland.

With his arrival in Ireland, Casement turned his attention towards matters closer to home, renewing friendships with nationalists and considering the issue of Irish independence. A man of strong nationalist sympathies, Casement helped to form the Irish Volunteers in 1913. The following year, Casement travelled to New York to deliver lectures and collect funds for the new organisation. With the outbreak of the First World War in August 1914, Casement saw the need to keep the Irish out of the war and to get assistance from Germany and the United States to provide arms for the Irish Volunteers in preparation for the fight for independence.
 By late September, Casement was in talks with the German military about the formation of an Irish Brigade made up of Irish prisoners of war held in German war camps. Casement left the United States in October and began his journey to Berlin, Germany. His mission was supported financially by a sum of $3000 in gold, provided by Clan na Gael.
 Casement travelled under the name ‘James Landy’ to Christiania, Norway, steering clear of British warships, and reached Berlin on 31 October 1914. He was accompanied by Richard Meyer, a representative of the German Foreign Office, and Adler Christensen, a Norwegian sailor 
 who was to become his servant and travelling companion.

As Casement engaged in discussions with the German Foreign Office, he began to put his plans in place for an Irish Brigade, assembling Irishmen from different prison camps at Limburg, a special camp in the Lahn Valley. Casement recognised the need for priests to provide for the spiritual care of the prisoners, requesting an Irish priest if possible. 
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Three priests were located, Father John Thomas Crotty, a Dominican, Father John Thomas Nicholson from Philadelphia, and Father Canice O'Gorman who came through Clan na Gael. It was Father Crotty who was to become an invaluable source of help and support for Casement. Casement began to call for volunteers from the Irish prisoners of war to join an Irish Brigade and fight for Irish independence, however, the results were not positive, and often hostile. Casement was also concerned with locating more suitable military officers and even turned to the United States in his quest, however, only one man got through, Robert Monteith. Relations between Casement and the men continued to deteriorate in 1915. His relationship with the German Foreign Office was also considerably cooler as Casement's efforts to build an Irish combat unit yielded little results. Casement realised that the Germans had little interest in Ireland or her liberation.
 

By 1916, it was clear that the Germans were only willing to send a small consignment of arms to Ireland as a feeble gesture to keep their Irish-American friends happy, and to perhaps cause a military diversion. Only one ship, the Aud, would be sent to Tralee, carrying a cargo of 20,000 rifles captured from the enemy instead of the requested 100,000. Casement became increasingly concerned about the prospect of an armed rising without sufficient military cover. Greatly opposed to the plan, Casement now focussed on how to reach Ireland before the rising scheduled to take place on Easter Sunday to call off the rebellion. Casement eventually persuaded the Germans to allow him to travel to Ireland by submarine prior to the sailing of the Aud and the planned rising. The U-19 carrying Casement, Monteith and Irish Brigadier, Daniel Bailey, arrived at Tralee Bay on 21 April 1916.
 Roger Casement was captured and subsequently sentenced to death by the British authorities. He died in Pentonville prison on 3 August 1916.

Divided into three sections, the collection has been arranged according to document type. The documents are then arranged chronologically within each section. Section One addresses correspondence and receipts (1913-1916) and forms one of the most interesting parts of the collection. It includes correspondence mostly between Casement and an old German friend from his days in Africa, Count Gebhard Blücher. Blücher was the great-great-grandson of Marshal Blücher, saviour of the British at Waterloo, and heir to a better title and considerable landholdings in Germany. His wife, Evelyn Stapleton-Bretherton, came from an old Lancashire family in England. The couple lived in England until the war when they had to return to Germany. Countess Blücher later published her memoirs entitled 'An English Wife in Berlin' referring to meetings with Casement during more troubled times
. Casement relied on Blücher for support and also for his connections with many leading German diplomats. 

The correspondence reveals Casement's feelings on the war, as he notes in a letter to Blücher 'The only cheering thing is that the Irish are not enlisting. That is killed anyhow - & the 200,000 men they had expected from Ireland to cut the German throat will not come up to the knife' (12 January 1914). The collection also reflects Casement's passionate dislike of British Ambassador in Norway, Mansfeldt Findlay. Casement was determined to reveal that Findlay had attempted to bribe his Norwegian companion, Christensen, to hand over Casement for the sum of £10,000, even supplying him with a receipt. Casement states '…even with the evidence already in my possession…I could make out a case against the Br. Govt. that would gravely impair its moral prestige in English-speaking communities', referring to the British Government as a 'conspiracy of 
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criminals' (3 December 1914). A number of letters in the collection address the subject of Father Crotty including letters between Casement and Count Georg von Wedel, Chief of the English Department in the German Foreign Office, Richard Meyer, also of the German Foreign Office, and Countess Blücher. These documents refer to issues such as funding, securing a permit to visit prisoners, finding a place of worship, and the prospect of leaving Germany. Two letters from Crotty to Casement are included in the collection. In addition, an extract from one of Crotty's letters copied in Casement's own hand, is of particular interest, providing an insight into the relationship between the Dominican priest and the Irish prisoners of war. It states '…I should regret leaving the poor boys who assure me that Germany could do them any greater injury than to deprive them of my ministrations. They would live on bread and water and work night and day if I should be left with them to the end. The poor fellows cried like children when I announced to them the news of my recall…' (4 February 1916). 

Possibly one of the most intriguing documents in this body of material, however, is a letter from Casement to Countess Blücher, which addresses the subject of keeping a diary, 'You know the charm of a diary is its simplicity. Its reality and the sense of daily life it conveys to the reader depends not on style, but on truth and sincerity. It should tell of things - but still more of the writer and his (or her) outlook on those things…I kept one for the first three months or so of my stay in this country, & then I gave it up because I became too personal! I found myself writing things best left unwritten - even unthought - & since I could not tell the truth, even to myself, I dropped the [pen] - a year ago!' (1 February 1916). [Now The German Diary 2016]
Section Two of the collection focuses on printed material [1914-1916], and includes one of Casement's printed pamphlets entitled 'Ireland, Germany and Freedom of the Seas', a printed leaflet advertising a lecture by Dr. Chatterton-Hill, and two newspaper clippings. The third section contains other documents [1915-1916] including one of Casement's essays entitled' A PACIFIC BLOCKADE' which was published in the Continental Times as 'War Depression - A Pacific Blockade' on 13 December 1915 under the pseudonym 'Diplomaticus'. In addition, there is a typescript document on Casement, and a note containing the name and address of Count Blücher.

The Roger Casement Papers document one of the most exciting periods in Irish history, the period leading up to the 1916 Rising and Ireland's claim to political independence. The collection provides us with a glimpse of the Irish-German background of the Easter Rising. The letters date from Casement's arrival in Germany in 1914 to the very month he leaves Germany in 1916 on the U-19 bound for Ireland. The documents address a range of different subjects including the enlisting of Irishmen in the First World War, the appointment of an envoy from England to the Vatican, the Findlay affair, the work of Father Crotty in German prison camps, writing articles for the press, keeping a diary, and the desire for peace. Casement's concern for the spiritual welfare of Irish prisoners of war in Germany is reflected very clearly in this part of the collection, as is his contempt for the British Government and his desire to see it undermined. In addition, moments of loneliness and paranoia are expressed, as Casement became increasingly isolated from Irish nationalists and the German Foreign Office. His deteriorating health is also referred to. What comes across particularly strongly, however, is Casement's inextinguishable passion and drive for the cause of Irish independence, reflected also in his writings from the period. Casement continues to be one of Irish history’s most enigmatic figures.
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II. Correspondence and receipts (1913-1916)

1. 14 November 1913

(incorrectly dated by Casement)
Letter from [Whiptin N. Haywood], Junior United 

Services Club, London, to Count Gebhard Blücher on the subject of iron deposits.


3pp.

2.
12 January 1914 [1915?]
Letter from Casement (signed Roddie), [Nassauer 

Hof, Limburg], to Count Blücher referring to the health of the Countess' brother, his own health, 

the weather, his plans to travel to Vienna, and affairs at home in Ireland, stating 'The only cheering thing is that the Irish are not enlisting. That is killed any how - & the 200,000 men they expected from Ireland to cut the German throat will not come up to the knife. They admit too, I see, that it is due to the "seditious" propaganda of the extremists.' [see NLI 13084/1 13 January 1915 reply - smiler]
4pp.

3.
23 November 1914

Letter from Count Botho von Wedel, Auswärtiges 

Amt to [Count Blücher] in German, stating that Casement is in the Continental Hotel under the 

name Mr. Hammond.

2pp.

4.
25 November 1914

Letter from Casement to Count Blücher referring 

to his appeal to the Irish people noting 'My advice is being acted on in Ireland - & that is why they are 

prosecuting the patriotic papers.' Also refers to telegram in Italian paper Corriere Della Sera regarding the subject of appointing an envoy from England to the Vatican, stating 'This is fine - they may send the Duke of Norfolk! Anyhow, it shows how the wind is blowing in Ireland and that they now (as in Parnell's time) want to get the Pope on the side of British tyranny in Ireland - & to suppress the later nationalists as they tried to get an earlier Pope to suppress the 1880-81 nationalists…Do you know many influential Catholics at Rome? I shall need their help on [the] side of Ireland - and peace.'

4pp.

5.
27 November 1914

Letter from Casement, Continental Hotel, Berlin, to 

Countess Blücher referring to the enclosure of the declaration of the German government about 

Ireland, and Casement's appeal to the Irish to stay at home, stating 'the parts in italics are quotations from Mr Redmond's recruiting appeal when he wanted the Irish boys to go out and get killed in Belgium or kill [these] German boys. I think the Irish are following my advice rather than Redmond's.'







2pp.
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6. 3 December 1914




(see PP/1/7)


Letter from Casement, Frankfurt, to Count Blücher






referring to the importance of public opinion, his





feelings regarding Mansfeldt Findlay, British Minister in Norway, and states 'In fact, I go so far as to say that even with the evidence already in my possession, did I get no fresh, I could make out a case against the Br. Govt. that would gravely impair its moral prestige in English-speaking communities, and entirely convince a great number of Irishmen in Ireland and pro-Irish & pro-German opinion in U.S.A.', and refers to the British government as being a 'conspiracy of criminals'. In addition, Casement refers to Adler Christensen, his 'faithful "ruffian"'. 

5pp.

7. n.d.






(see PP/1/6)


Typescript copy of extract from a letter to Count 







Blücher from Casement. Contains some 







handwritten amendments.


2pp.

8.
5 December 1914

Letter in German from Georg von Wedel, Chief of 

the English Department in German Foreign Office, to Count [Blücher], referring to Casement and an 

article in Spectator.

2pp.

9.
14 December 1914

Typescript letter in German from [Erzberger, leader 

of Catholic Centre Party in the Reichstag], Hotel 

Esplanade, Budapesterstrasse 132, Berlin, to 

[Count Blücher], in German, regarding the organisation of a meeting, and the Irish clergyman, [Father Crotty].

1p.

10.
4 January 1915


Typescript letter in German to Mr. Erzberger, 
 







referring to Father Crotty, a very worthy clergyman.

1p.

11.
19 January 1915

Letter from Casement, Limburg, to Count Blücher 







referring to hotel arrangements in Berlin, the 






weather, and developments in the war, stating 'The French are getting it "in the neck." The Turks were fools (as I said at the outset) to go to the Caucasus. They should have simply held their frontier there…'

4pp.

12.
31 January 1915

Letter from Casement to Count Blücher regarding 







the inclusion of a letter in the Berlin press translated 






with 'a photo of F's "guarantee" …' and referring to the British parliament, he states 'If the Enemy has got any inkling of the step I am taking then they surely forestall me by a public pronouncement in Parliament declaring me a traitor…I feel that the Enemy I am thus openly attacking is indeed the King of Beasts & has sharp claws - but I must go into the Lion's Den openly & boldly to make good my case…' Casement concludes 'They will possibly try …to get the Norwegian Govt. to give me up to them on some [trumped] up charge, faked for the purpose - Anyhow adieu & may it be au revoir…'

4pp.
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13.
2 February 1915

Letter from Casement to Count Blücher stating that







he is lying low and requesting a lady 
typist.

2pp.

14.
29 [March] 1915

Letter from Casement, Berlin, to Count Blücher







referring to his stay with the Baroness von 







Nordenflycht and arranging to meet.

3pp.

15.
5 November 1915

Letter from Casement, Christliches Hotel, Berlin,







to Count Blücher, referring to his article printed 






with 'all of the usual printers' errors and ommissions in the English text as published.'

2pp.

16.
9 December 1915

Receipt acknowledging the payment of 200 marks 







to Casement by Count Blücher for four articles 






written at Blücher's request, and documenting the transfer of these funds to Father T.J. Crotty, OP, at the Missionhaus, Limburg, 'to be expended as Father Crotty finds useful in his mission to the Irish soldiers in Germany…'

2pp.

17.
16 December 1915

Draft of letter from Casement, Fossen, to Count 







Georg von Wedel, Auswärtiges Amt, Berlin, on the 






matter of Father Crotty, which includes extracts from recent letters received from the priest, and refers to visiting prisoners of war and funding. Some lines are crossed out. 

2pp.

18.
22 December 1915

Letter to Casement from Richard Meyer, 








Auswärtiges Amt referring to the forwarding of 








letters by Casement for transmittance to America, and payment of expenses by Foreign Office for any expenses incurred by Father Crotty in Limburg. In addition, refers to problems in securing a permit for Crotty acknowledging 'some difficulties from the military authorities.' Some lines are underlined in pencil.

4pp.

19.
23 December 1915

Letter from Father J.T. Crotty, Limburg, Mission 







House, to Casement, Fossen, referring to various






publications, and to the matter of his mission in Germany with Irish Prisoners of War and its coverage in the press. Also requests that Casement proposes to Count von Wedel or the [Kriefsministerium], that all Irish Catholic Prisoners of War be brought to one camp, that permission be granted for Crotty to visit his fellow countrymen in the various German camps, and that a suitable place of worship be given. 

4pp.
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20.
2 January 1916


Letter from Casement, Hotel zum Goldenen Lowen, 







to Blücher requesting that he does not mention his 







name in the matter of Father Crotty, and referring to 

the priest's requests, stating 'The pretence set up is that Fr. Crotty is a "Redmondite" - but that is absolutely false to begin with…' In addition, addresses other matters including the settling of bills, passing the time and travel plans.

8pp.

21.
4 January 1916


Letter from Casement to Blücher from Fossen, 







repeating the request to keep his name out of the 






Father Crotty affair, confirming that the money issue has been settled and acknowledging the remaining matter relating to a permit for Crotty to visit his flock.

4pp.

22.
9 January 1916


Letter from Casement, Hotel zum Goldenen Lowen, 







to Countess Blücher referring to the enclosure of a 






letter from Father Crotty to be given to Count Blücher, stating 'I hope G. will succeed in getting the matter settled in accordance with Father C's wishes and what is undoubtedly in the interest of Germany.'

3pp.

23.
13 January 1916

Letter from Casement, Hotel zum Goldenen Lowen,







to Count Blücher, Berlin, stating that he has asked 







Father Crotty to call on the Count whilst in Berlin.

1p.

24.
26 January 1916

Letter from Casement, carer of Dr. Rudolf V. 







Hoesselin, Kuranstalt, Neuwittelsbach, München,







to Blücher referring to his ill health and the 

publication of his articles in the German and French press. Casement opens the letter by stating 'I am forced to lie up for a long spell I fear owing to a complete breakdown - In my loneliness I think of still doing what I can to help.'

4pp.

25.
1 February 1916

Letter from Casement, Kuranstalt, Neuwittelsbach, 







Munich, to Countess Blücher, stating the following 






about Father Crotty, 'I am so sorry about Father Crotty - it is a great pity and I feel much for him - and for the poor men he will leave behind - now without a friend.' On the subject of keeping a diary he notes 'You know the charm of a diary is its simplicity. Its reality and the sense of daily life it conveys to the reader depends not on style, but on truth and sincerity. It should tell of things - but still more of the writer and his (or her) outlook on those things...I kept one for the first three months or so of my stay in this country, & then I gave it up because I became too personal! I found myself writing things best left unwritten - even unthought - & since I could not tell the truth, even to myself, I dropped the [pen]  - a year ago!' 


4pp.

26. 
1 February 1916

Letter from Casement, Kuranstalt, Neuwittelsbach,








Roman Strasse, München, to Count Blücher, 







referring to an article he sent the Count on Ireland


for Peace, and also noting his poor health.

2pp.
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27.
3 February 1916

Letter from Casement, Kuranstalt, Neuwittelsbach,








München, to Count Blücher, referring to an article to






be typed up, the release of Chatterton Hill, material requested by the Count.

2pp.

28.
4 February 1916

Extract from a letter by Reverend T.J. Crotty, O.P.,






Limburg, copied in Casement's handwriting, 






referring to Crotty's return to Rome, his intention to request that the authorities reconsider their decision, travel arrangements, the response of Irish prisoners to the news and his concerns regarding safe access to other countries. On the matter of leaving he notes that he has many enemies and states 'I must, however, say that I should regret leaving the poor boys who assure me that Germany could do them any greater injury than to deprive them of my ministrations. They would live on bread and water and work night and day if I should be left with them to the end. The poor fellows cried like children when I announced to them the news of my recall…' In addition, Crotty’s fears about his movements after Germany are expressed 'You are aware of the feelings my coming here excited in the minds of the people in England, and…you know of the letter which was published in the Press concerning my mission to an enemies country and of the warning of the writer to the authorities to look upon my action as treasonable, and of regarding me as a traitor.'

2pp.

29.
7 February 1916

Typescript letter from Father John Thomas Crotty, 






Missionshaus, Limburg, to Countess [Blücher], 






reporting that he has secured a special hall as a place of worship for the Irish prisoners from the Commandant of the Lager, and that the government no longer requests his departure from Germany.

1p.

30.
9 February 1916

Letter from Casement, Munich, to Count Blücher, 







referring to his improving health, his feelings on the






War, returning his typed material, and the question of a portrait by Fraulein [Berthold]. On the subject of war, he states 'The only thing I really want is peace - peace all round. I am sick to death of all the rest - the hopeless folly of the whole thing - the organised madness - the scientific insanity - called "war" - "victory" - "glory" - how vain and hopeless it is.'

2pp.
31.
9 February 1916

Letter from Casement to Count Blücher, on the 







Subject of Father Crotty and the question of his







Departure from Germany, stating 'In May last they

(the military) were "down" on Fr C because he wd not be a recruiting sergeant for my Irish Brigade - He could not be. That wd. have been a very wrongful thing for him to attempt & against his orders from the Pope. Then, because he would not do that, the military men said he was "no use" & they wanted to get him packed off.'

3pp.
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32.
15 February 1916

Letter from Casement, Munich, to Count Blücher,







referring to a trip to Berlin, stating 'I got a letter last 






night urging me strongly to go…some alleged important business I can deal with it is said, only there.'

2pp.

33.
1 March 1916


Letter from Casement, Neuwittelsbach, Munich, to 







Count Blücher, Wahlstatt, Hotel Esplanade, written 






in someone else's handwriting and marked with the word 'Dictated'. Refers to his health and helping the Count with his work.

2pp.

34.
12 March 1916


Letter from Casement to Count Blücher apologising







for being unable to assist him in his good work since 






his return, referring to an article in the 'Times' and his health.

2pp.

35. 
4 April 1916


Letter from Casement to Count Blücher enclosing a







receipt for fifty marks received by Casement from 







Blücher for the Irish Fund, received for article 


written by request. Notes that he is travelling to Fossen with Father Crotty.

2 items

36.
8 April 1916


Letter from Father Crotty O.P., Missionhaus,







Limburg, to Count Blücher, referring to 







the proposed arrival of English Catholic soldiers 

to the camp, Casement’s health, Crotty's journey back to Limburg and the subject of the war. Crotty states the following about the new additions to the camp 'Since my return I have heard that some few hundred English soldiers (all Catholics) are to come to this camp. Of course I shall look after them just as I do after my own countrymen although I came here for the Irish Prisoners only. A missionary has no choice of subjects.' Referring to the war, he says 'I sincerely trust we are near the end of this terrible war. We can hear the canon at Verdun - a distance of 250 kilometers. What a fearful slaughter must be taking place around the fortress!'

4pp.

37.
n.d.



Letter from Casement, Eden Hotel, Berlin, to Count







Blücher referring to meeting arrangements and his 







health.

4pp.

38.
n.d.



Letter from Casement, [Hospiz am Brandenburger], 






to Count Blücher, referring to calling to see him, 






having a wounded hand, an article in a Munich paper, and states 'Gaffney from Munich is here on his way to U.S.A…I hope he will be another nail in Wilson's coffin.'

3pp.

39.
n.d.



Letter from Casement to Count Blücher referring to







arrangements to meet and getting advice on his 







'plan'. 

3pp.
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40.
n.d.



Letter from Casement, Hotel Esplanade, Berlin, to 







Count Blücher, asking him to come to lunch, and 






referring to developments in Poland, stating 'The news from Poland is excellent - and if the victory is as great as is believed then it should do much to bring this damnable war within sight of an end.'

4pp.

41.
n.d.



Letter from Casement, Continental Hotel, Berlin, to







[Count Blücher] referring to an article in the "Daily






Mail" on the declaration of the German Government and states 'This is good! The news appeared on the chief page of the issue - they must be in a fury. They followed it promptly by suspending my Irish papers - as a military measure. They did not prosecute - that would have raised a scandal & given further proof to the world…'

7pp.

42.
n.d. 



Letter signed M. referring to Frank and his 







companion who is an artist and French scholar.

3pp.

43.
n.d.



Letter signed M. from Guildford to [Gippy] referring 







to the arrival of Frank stating '…he says he feels the 







whole country (Germany) is friendly to us…'

2pp.
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II. Printed Material [1914 – 1916]

44.
[1914]



Printed pamphlet by Casement entitled ‘Ireland,







Germany and Freedom of the Seas’. Contains 






enclosure which reads 'Presented by Mr. Ignatius Houlihan Solicitor Bindon St., Ennis 1970'.

2 items

45.
23 June 1916


Printed leaflet in German advertising a lecture by 







Dr. Chatterton-Hill on Friday 30 June at Bernburger 






Strasse 22-23, entitled ‘Irland und seine Bedeutung im Weltkreig’.

1p.

46.
[October 1914]


Newspaper cutting entitled ‘SIR ROGER 







CASEMENT’S VISIT TO BERLIN. “OFFER” BY







KAISER’S GOVERNMENT.’ The article begins ‘For 

the past week The Daily Mail, in common with other British journals which have regular access to the columns of German newspapers…’ 

1p.

47.
2 August 1969


Newspaper cutting from Clare Champion 







entitled ‘HISTORIC CASEMENT LETTERS 






PRESENTED TO LIBRARY’ which begins ‘Some fifty original letters to and from Sir Roger Casement during his stay in Germany from July 1914 to April 1916…’

1p.
PP/1

III.
Other Documents [1915-1916]

48.
27 November 1915

Typescript copy of an essay entitled 'A PACIFIC 






BLOCKADE' by Casement which begins 'A new





disease appears to have been discovered in London', referring to 'war Depression', and the issue of the neutrality of Greece. Paginated and contains a handwritten note which reads 'Sir Roger Casement 27/11/15'. 

3pp.
49.
29 April 1916


Typescript document in German regarding Roger 







Casement referring to his capture, outlining his 






career in the British Consulate in Central and South America between 1901 and 1913, his examination of the rubber industry and associated abuses, Mr. Morel of the Anti-Congo Society and the Union of Democratic Control, Casement's knighthood, the Putumayo indians, Catholic Committee in England, Count Blücher, the non-conformist element in English religious life and the role of Dr. Harris, and the whereabouts of Count Blücher.

4pp.

50.
n.d.



Note containing the name and address of Count 







Blücher.

1p
51.
n.d.



Folder which contained the collection of letters with 







a handwritten note in German on the cover which 







reads ‘Briefwechsel mit Roger Casement’.

1 item

Thomas Johnson Westropp Volume

PP/2

1. 14 September 1881 


–April 1882
Notebook containing notes in Westropp’s 



handwriting on the genealogy and heraldry of the 


Westropp family, with extensively researched family trees relating to different branches of the family, noting information on arms, crests and mottoes, and also containing extracts from documents relating to the family name, and referring to inscriptions on seals and tombs. In addition, records legends of the Stamers, Clare Castle, Quin Abbey, death of Colonel George Stamer, and arms of the families that intermarried with the Westropps, and miscellaneous epitaphs. The volume is illustrated throughout with ink sketches of crests, inscriptions on tombs and seals, building plans of Kilpeacon Church, County Limerick, and Mellifont Abbey, County Louth, detailed views of Clarecastle, Killoo Church near Clarecastle, and Ennis Abbey. The document is paginated and contains a number of enclosed notes relating to Westropp’s research. A number of pages are also loose from the binding. The cover bears the title ‘Miscellanea’, and the first page contains two notes by Westropp. The first reads ‘Thomas Johnson Westropp Springfort Limerick Sep 14th 1881’, and the second states the following: ‘-Let this book be preserved Ap 1882 TJW.’












c.92pp.

Letters of Thomas Steele, Sir Robert Peel and Others
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I. Mostly Letters from Thomas Steele to Philip Stacpoole, (1779-1846)

1.
21 December 1779

Letter from Thomas Steele, Dublin to Phil 

Stacpoole, Cragbrien, regarding fears concerning payment, his health, free trade and the post of 

sheriff. On the issue of a report on the granting of free trade and the response of the town, he states ‘…in consequence of which a great part of the town was illuminated – but when the mob found that this report was a manoeuvre of Government they sallied out and committed great depredations last night in the streets…’

3pp.

2.
4 April 1780


Letter from Thomas Steele to Phil Stacpoole 

Esquire, Sixmilebridge, referring to meeting with Mr Moloney, and the return of Matt Moloney from 

England with his brother’s marriage articles to be executed again due to a mistake noting ‘the young couple wait with Impatience till he goes to the County of Clare to see them…’

2pp.

3.
24 June 1780


Letter from Thomas Steele, Dublin, to Phil 

Stacpoole Esquire, on the matter of the sale of the Bay mare for a sum of seventeen guineas.

3pp.

4.
25 February 1846

Letter in two parts from Thomas Steele, Loyal 

National Repeal Association, Corn Exchange Rooms, Dublin, to John B. Knox Esquire. The first 

part refers to a proposed scheme of drainage and navigation in the Valley of the Shannon, work of the repeal movement and a trip to Clare noting ‘I cannot go sooner, for my work of mischief and anarchy in the Conciliation.’ The second part of the letter is marked ‘No. 2 Wednesday’, and makes further reference to Steele’s arrangements for the Clare trip, stating ‘On Sunday morning I return by Day Couch to Dublin to be in full plumage to do my Work of Destruction in the Corn Exchange, giving directions for the murder of any bloody Heretic Protestants, - Fathers and Mothers…for broiling the Heretic Children alive and sending them salted to New Zealand for recovering the forfeited estates of the Catholicks…’ 

3 items
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II. Other Letters to the Stacpoole Family, (1789-1826)

5.
8 March 1789


Letter from Robert Travers to George Stacpoole, 

Esquire, Ennis, regarding Monreel in Ennistymon, County Clare, referring to the state of Sir John 

Milton’s title, rent arrears, the neighbours of Mr. Browne, regaining possession and settling the account.

3pp.

6.
22 June 1826


Letter from George F. Fitzgerald, Dublin Castle, to 

Andrew Stacpoole Esquire, Lifford, Ennis, enquiring about the position of paymaster in the regiment, 

noting the provision of security of any amount by Maurice Fitzgerald of Eccles street.

3pp.

III.
Letters from Sir Robert Peel to John Singleton, (1846)

7.
2 September 1846

Transcript of letter on behalf of Sir Robert Peel, to 

John Singleton regarding resolutions from the Quin Relief Committee.

2pp.

8.
12 September 1846

Letter from Sir Robert Peel to John Singleton 

acknowledging receipt of the resolutions adopted by members of the Committee for the Relief of the 

Destitute in the district of Quin, stating ‘If the Course which I have taken during the last Session of Parliament has tended to mitigate the calamities of Famine and Disease in Ireland, and has given me any claim to the grateful Recollections of the Irish People such a Result, and such a Reward, are more than an ample Compensation for any other Consequences which may have followed the performance of an imperative public Duty.’

4pp.

III.
Other Letters, (1758-[1871])

9.
3 November 1758

Letter from [James Mahon, Cork,] to Edmond 

Hogan, Esquire, Ennis, regarding matters of the sea, reporting on goods loaded from the shore at St. 

Eustatius and brought into England, condemnation of goods from Martinique and St. Domingo, transportation of Hogan’s cattle to Cork, the beef trade and the salting of beef, the arrival of seven East India ships in Cork, trouble with the French fleet, and stranded India Company ships at Kinsale and Tralee, stating ‘two more of the India company’s ships are safe at Kinsale, another has been stranded within ten miles of Tralee. the goods will be saved, but the ship it is feared can’t be got off. Another which made the whole of the fleet that sailed in company from St. Helena is yet missing but supposed to be put into some part of the west of this country.’

3pp.
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10.
23 January 1790

Letter from Francis Burton, Dublin, to Thomas 






Crowe, Esquire, referring to an application for the 

discharge of Charles McCarthy, gunner with the 

army and General Stratton’s requirements, registry of freeholders, and events in parliament, stating ‘I am extremely obliged to you for having secured his vote & likewise for the information you were so good as to give me of the last registry of freeholders. For my part I would much rather not be in parliament than be elected by such a set of perspired wretches…’

4pp.

11.
15 September [18]19

Note from [Captain James J. Muffy] permitting 

O’Dwyer of Lahinch to bring one firkin of butter to Michael Healy of Ennistymon.

1p.

12.
[9 March 1871]

Letter from Arthur Kavanagh, House of Commons 

Library, to P. McMahon, Esquire, M.P., referring to the Railway Bill being thrown out by the Lords’ 

Committee on Standing Orders due to ‘some technical errors’ and proposing to rectify these errors and lodge the bill again.

3pp.
IV.
Receipts (1843-1920)

13.
24 March 1843

Receipt from Ennis Union in the name of Thomas 

Gibson in payment of Poor Rate amounting to [£2:11:3].

1p.

14.
13 April 1860


Receipt from Ennis Union in the name of Thomas 

Gibson in payment of Poor Rate amounting to one shilling.

1p.

15.
14 May 1920


Receipt from Government of the Irish Republic for 

the sum of one pound, in the name of Daniel Kenny.

1p.

Angus Mitchell papers
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A collection of reference papers relating to Sir Roger Casement including articles, proof copies and fliers was donated to Clare County Archives by historian, Angus Mitchell, on 3 March 2004. Public access to this material has been granted with the exception of The Betrayal of Roger Casement and the Irish Brigade by S.F. Kavanagh. This document remains closed until 2020.

1. Bourne, R., ‘The Amazon Journal of Roger Casement’, review of Mitchell’s publication.

2. Callanan, F., ‘The Making if a Revolutionary Martyr’, review of Mitchell’s publication in The Irish Times, 31 May 2003.
3. Casement, R., ‘Chivalry’ in Fianna Handbook 

4. Casement, R., The Romance of Irish History.

5. Casement, R., ‘The Irishry of Ulster’, The Nation, 11 October 1913. 

6. Some Poems of Roger Casement, Dublin, London 1918.

7. Casement, R., ‘Guti: a Tale of Swazi Life’ in The Outlook, 23 April 1898.

8. Casement, R., ‘The Irish Language’, a lecture delivered in the Glen of Antrim, c. 1906.

9. Casement, R., ‘Hy-Brasil. Irish Origins of Brazil’. Pamphlet contains introduction by Angus Mitchell, 1999.
10. Curry, Dr. C.E. (ed.), Sir Roger Casement’s Diaries. His Mission to Germany and the Findlay Affair, 1922.

11. Kavanagh, S.F., The Betrayal of Roger Casement and the Irish Brigade (unpublished). Closed until 2020
12. Kiberd, D., ‘Revenge of the Spooks’, review of Mitchell’s publication in The Irish Times, 11 October 2003.
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14. Mitchell, A., “16”. The 16th Irish Division and 1916. Roger Casement and the Irish Volunteers, paper presented to Carlow Historical and Archaeological Society, 16 January 2002 (draft)

15. Mitchell, A., The Feminization of Roger Casement (draft).

16. Mitchell, A., John Bull’s Other Empire: Roger Casement and the anti-imperial press 1898-1916 (draft).

17. Mitchell, A., Imperial Resource Wars and Popular Agitation for an Ethical Foreign Policy in the Atlantic World 1884-1913’ (draft).
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18. Mitchell, A., ‘Forgery or Genuine Document?’ in History Today, March 2001
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31. Mitchell, A., ‘An Irish Putumayo: Roger Casement’s humanitarian relief campaign among the Connemara islanders (1913-14)’.
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34. Mitchell, A., Sir Roger Casement’s Heart of Darkness: The 1911 Documents, proof copy.

35. Mitchell, A., chronology of Roger Casement’s life.
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42. A miscellany of letters by Roger Casement on the organisation of Irish Language Schools in the Gaeltacht and a letter from Padraig Pearse

43. Reflections on the Irish language (extracts from some of Casement’s writings)

44. Alice Milligan remembers Roger Casement

45. George Gavan Duffy Papers, National Library of Ireland. Roger Casement 1916. Notes for Defence, Points for Counsel, Briefs & Memos.

46. The Continental Times, 31 October 1909, and 18 September 1914-31 December 1917 (microfilm).
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Griffith Family Papers
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Introduction
The Griffith Papers were deposited in Clare County Archives in April 2004. The collection of documents relates mainly to the family of Rev. Julius Henry Griffith and his wife, Elizabeth.

Julius Henry Griffith (1827-1907) was the first son of Rev. James Griffith (1784-1869) born in County Clare, and his wife, Margaret Susanna (d. 1880). Rev. James Griffith was awarded a Bachelor of Arts Degree from Trinity College Dublin in 1816 and was ordained Deacon in Limerick the following year. Rev. Griffith became Canon in Rathkeale in 1825. Other children in the family included Christopher John Forbes (b.1835) who died at Delgany in 1866, Alicius John (b.1832), Staff Surgeon to the Forces at Dundrum, who passed away in 1858, and Gideon James (b. 1828), Assistant Surgeon to the Third West Indian Regiment, dying of fever in Jamaica in 1853. The eldest daughter, Susan Julia, married Richard Archer of Rathgar in 1858. Rev. Griffth died at his Dublin residence, 50 Rathgar Road, aged 85 years. Margaret Susanna died eleven years later at 128 Rathgar Road. 

Like his father, Julius Henry was a graduate of Trinity College Dublin, receiving a Batchelor of Arts Degree in 1851 followed by a Masters Degree in 1877. Griffith was ordained Deacon in Meath in 1856, Priest in Kilmore in 1857, Canon in Killenumery between 1856 and 1861, Canon at Lurganboy between 1861 and 1870, Rector in Drumcliffe (Elphin) between 1870 and 1877, Rector at St. Michael’s in Limerick in 1877, Rector in St. Patrick’s in Killelly between 1881 and 1883, and Rector at Drumcliffe Union (Killaloe) in 1884.
 Griffith married Elizabeth MacPherson, on 12 April 1860 in St. Jude’s Chapel in Glasgow. The couple had six sons including Alexander James (b. 1861), Dudley Percival (1864-1931), Julius Henry Edward (1868-1927), Gideon de Gorrequer Wyndham (1872-1894), Fitzgerald Charles Willam (1874-1896) and Christopher John Foster (b. and d. 1880). Their four daughters included Lillias Niven (1862-1941), Maude Dolmage (1866-1928), Mariannette Constance Julia (1869-1888), and Gwendoline Marguerite Violet (1878-1960). 

The Griffith Papers relate to the family of Rev. Julius Henry Griffith and his wife Elizabeth. The family lived in the Rectory at 1 Bindon street in Ennis, County Clare, from the early 1880s, when Julius Henry became Rector of Drumcliffe Union (Killaloe). The papers include correspondence, birth and marriage certificates, copies of diaries, photographs and press cuttings. The collection is divided into five sections. Section one addresses birth, marriage and death (1878-1909) and includes a copy of the birth certificate of Rev. Griffith’s daughter, Margaret Violet Gwendoline Griffith, and a marriage certificate in the names of Margaret Violet Gwendoline Griffith and Britain Lougheed. The second section contains correspondence and financial material (1884-1889) and includes a letter from [Charles] H.Allen to Rev. Griffith on the subject of General Gordon in Khartoum, North Africa, stating ‘And now Gordon stands alone – the one solitary Englishman in Khartoum, holding in his wonderful grasp all the lawless scum of Central African rasceldom that is ever to be found in Khartoum, the great centre of the Slave Trade…I venture to think that this hero of the nineteenth century – this modern Rayard will continue to hurl back the swarms of his fierce assailants until the tardy & far too long delayed help of England shall at last arrive’ (24 November 1884). 
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This section also holds a letter from Rev. Griffith’s son Fitzgerald (also known as ‘Gerald’) from on board the H.M.S. “Edgar” at Tripoli in the Lebanon, to his parents describing the famous collision of the H.M.S. “Camperdown” and the H.M.S. “Victoria”, which he himself witnessed, stating ‘As the ships were turning to come in here (Tripoli), by some awful mischance, (I have not quite found out how) the Rear-Admirals flagship with a terrible grinding crash rammed the Commander-in-Chief’s flagship close to the bow…She turned towards land, her engines still working & her stern high out of the water, but she had not gone a hundred yards when she was seen to be sinking fast…in a moment, to everybody’s unutterable horror she capsized completely…& with a terrible rush she went to the bottom carrying with her about 400 unfortunate wretches, including the Commander-in-Chief, & about 40 or 50 officers. About half a minute afterwards she blew up under water…’ [24 June 1893].

Section three of the collection contains copies of the diaries of Fitzgerald Griffith, which document his life at sea as Assistant Pay Master with the Royal Navy. The three volumes dating from 1891 to 1893, record Griffith’s departure from his home in Ennis, first impressions of life in the Royal Navy, places visited, uniform regulations, bathing, attending the opera and dances, letters from home, work duties, accidents, taking up photography, playing the bells, visiting friends, violent incidents, health matters, an earthquake at Zante, and the collison between the H.M.S. “Camperdown” and the H.M.S. “Victoria”. The diaries reveal information about Griffith’s life in Ennis prior to joining the navy, referring to various pursuits including ice skating, dancing and walking with friends. He states the following about a visit to Ennis by Charles Stewart Parnell, ‘Parnell came today & a procession went round after which he & others spoke from O’Connells square. Not such a crowd as might be expected’ (1 February 1891). Griffith’s entry into naval life is also well documented. His impressions of new people and places are faithfully recorded, and he notes the following about the Greek royal family, ‘The Royal family arrived at 9.30 & then the “bowing & scraping” began. The Prince is about 19, & the princess 17 or 18; she has a fat, not particularly nice face. The prince beckons to anybody’s partner who he wants to dance with & they must go’ (1 June 1891). Griffith notes the following about a bullfight at Cadiz ‘The ring is an immense circular building – open at the top. There were about 8 or 10,000 people there. It is a cruel & revolting sport. The bull first comes in, & there are Toriadors in the ring with coloured cloths, & they don’t seem to come in for much danger, as it is the cloth, held at arms length for which the bull goes. There are then several blindfolded horses in the ring, with riders on their backs, & their only object seems to be something for the bull to gore. He rushes at the poor animals who can’t see him, & rips them up, then entrails trailing all over the ground. The more he rips them up the more the people cheer…’ (31 July 1892)

On the subject of the collision between the H.M.S. “Camperdown” and the H.M.S. “Victoria” Griffith notes ‘At 3.30 in the afternoon a terrible catastrophe occurred; in changing column the “Camperdown” rammed the “Victoria” [abreast] of her turret guns starboard. She backed out & in a few minutes the “Victorias” forecastle was under water; she turned round towards the shore which was 7 miles distance funnels broke off & turret rolled out but to everyones  horror she capsized in ten minutes & sank with a terrible rush, carrying with her the Commander-in-Chief, and about 20 officers, & 400 men. Several jumped as she was capsizing, but some of them were killed by the revolving screw…There was a terrible explosion about ½ a minute after she sank…& sent several people to the bottom; boats were soon on the scene & about 270 persons picked up, some badly hurt’ (22 June 1893).
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The fourth section of the collection is comprised of black and white photographs, which include portraits of Fitzgerald Griffith in full naval dress, and Margaret Violet Gwendoline and her husband Britain Lougheed on their wedding day. This section also contains a glass plate negative of the loss of the H.M.S. “Victoria”, the flagship sinking after being rammed by the H.M.S. “Camperdown”, drawn by W.L. Weyllie, A.R.A. from sketches by [Fitzgerald Griffith] who witnessed the scene. Section five contains other documents including postcards, travelling permits and the ordination certificate of Rev. Julius Henry Griffith as Priest by Marcus Gerbais, the Lord Bishop of Kilmore.

The Griffith Papers provide a fascinating glimpse into family life in Ennis at the end of the nineteenth century, with information provided by the birth and marriage certificates, correspondence, the photographic component of the collection and the diaries. A letter from Julius Henry Edward Griffith to his [brother] reveals his feelings regarding the children’s welfare stating ‘I don’t want the children to go to Kingstown at all if it can be avoided. Don’t spend any money on them going there, nor send any. It would be taken from them.’ The diaries of Rev. Griffith’s son, Fitzgerald, also provide an insight into his life in Ennis before leaving for the Mediterranean with the Royal Navy. An entry in his diary made while he was at sea demonstrates how full his life was at home in Clare, stating ‘That riles me, the endless monotony. At home there was anything to do after work. Skating, dancing, tennis etc…Never appreciated what a fine happy time I had of it till I lost it. Wonder if I shall ever have any of it again’ (9 August 1891). This entry is particularly poignant considering Fitzgerald’s early death in 1896 aged just twenty-one years after a long illness. 

Life in the Royal Navy for a young Irish officer in the late nineteenth century is also well documented in the collection, particularly in Griffith’s diaries, which record every aspect of daily life at sea including sleeping quarters, uniforms, meals, work duties, target practice and entertainment. This material provides a closer understanding of this young Clare man, his feelings of homesickness particularly in his first year away, concerns for the future, thoughts on life in the navy, and his keen interest in photography, sketching and reading. Examples of Griffith’s artistic work are evident in the diaries, with drawings of sea vessels, people, animals and a family crest. Developments in photography are also reflected in some of the entries as Griffith records his own progress in this field, stating ‘I took two photographs of the harbour after lunch, & in the afternoon. I mixed the developers & developed the plates which came out very well & clear, with no fog. The detail is also very good indeed. I washed them for some time & then left them to dry’ (11 March 1892). The young officer also notes that he sent sketches and photographs of the sinking of the H.M.S. Victoria to the Daily Graphic newspaper Some of these images were used by the paper as part of their coverage of the accident.
 

This collection of papers is a rich source of information for researchers which touches on the lives of a nineteenth-century family in Clare and its link with a major nautical incident.
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I. Birth, Marriage and Death, 1878 - 1909

1.
1878



Copy of the birth certificate of Marguerite Violet 






Gwendoline Griffith, daughter of Julius Henry Griffith 

and Elizabeth Griffith (née MacPherson).

2pp.

2.
6 May 1907


Newspaper cutting from The Clare Champion 

entitled ‘The Late Rev. Dr. Griffith, Ennis’, which begins ‘The funeral of the Rev. Dr. Griffith, Rector of 

Ennis, took place on Thursday.’




2pp.

3.
1909



Certificate of Registry of Marriage in name of Britain 

Lougheed and Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Griffith in the parish of Drumcliff, Ennis.

1p.

II. Correspondence and financial affairs, 1884 - 1889

4.
22 June 1884


Facsimile of letter written by General Gordon 

addressed to the Mudir of Dongola and which is translated in English, addressing the direction, 

position and number of the relieving force.

5pp.

5.
24 November 1884

Letter from [Charles] H. Allen, 1 West Hill, Highgate, 

to Julius Henry Griffith on the subject of General Gordon in Khartoum, North Africa, describing his 

arrival, liberation of prisoners, combats with the enemy, the murder of  Colonel Stewart, Gordon’s christian faith, his desire to set free slaves, and his physique. Referring to Gordon’s fate, he states ‘And now Gordon stands alone – the one solitary Englishman in Khartoum, holding in his wonderful grasp all the lawless scum of Central African rasceldom that is ever to be found in Khartoum, the great centre of the Slave Trade…I venture to think that this hero of the nineteenth century – this modern Rayard will continue to hurl back the swarms of his fierce assailants until the tardy & far too long delayed help of England shall at last arrive.’

4pp.

6. 1889 – 1908

Savings book for Ennis Post Office Savings Bank in 




the name of Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Griffith.

1 item

7.
n.d.



Letter from Julius Henry Edward Griffith to [his 







brother Fitzgerald] referring to activities at sea, a trip 






to Pretoria in South Africa, civil appointments, training at Potchefstroom, being reunited with family members, and his feelings regarding Kingstown, stating ‘I don’t want the children to go to Kingstown at all if it can be avoided. Don’t spend any money on them going there, nor send any. It would be taken from them.’ The first page of the letter is missing.

2pp.
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8.
[24 June 1893]

Letter from Fitzgerald Griffith (or ‘Gerald’) from on 

board the H.M.S. “Edgar” at Tripoli, Lebanon, to his parents, Julius Henry Griffith and Elizabeth Griffith, 

describing the collision of the H.M.S. “Camperdown” and the H.M.S. “Victoria”, stating ‘As the ships were turning to come in here (Tripoli), by some awful mischance, (I have not quite found out how) the Rear-Admirals flagship with a terrible grinding crash rammed the Commander-in-Chief’s flagship close to the bow…She turned towards land, her engines still working & her stern high out of the water, but she had not gone a hundred yards when she was seen to be sinking fast…in a moment, to everybody’s unutterable horror she capsized completely…& with a terrible rush she went to the bottom carrying with her about 400 unfortunate wretches, including the Commander-in-Chief, & about 40 or 50 officers. About half a minute afterwards she blew up under water…’

5pp.

III.
Diaries, 1892 – 1894

9. 1891

(currently with depositor)
Diary of Fitzgerald Griffith referring to ice 

skating getting his portrait taken, receiving his uniform, dances, purchases, walks with friends, a 

visit to Ennis by Parnell, stating ‘Parnell came today & a procession went round after which he & others spoke from O’Connells square. Not such a crowd as might be expected’, (1 February 1891) and also recording packing for the navy, leaving home for London where he states ‘Did not go out all day. No hat to wear, so I could not’, (8 February 1891). In addition, records his first impressions of life on board the H.M.S. “Tamar”, ‘We were a dreadful squash in the sleeping place. Some fellows got squeamish. It is rather rough & we only went about 10 or 11 knots an hour. The meals are something wonderful, they are so extensive’, (10 February 1891), rifle drills, arrival in Malta, accommodation on board the H.M.S. Australia, reflections on Malta ‘The island is very barren with here and there some bright green fields, & the trees are “like angels’ visits – few & far between” – The roads are very bad for the most part. There are very many chapels, some of which have very good chimes of bells, and every couple of hundred yards you come across statues …’ (21 February 1891), letters from home, arrival at various destinations including Syracuse, Naples, Capri, Rhodes and Alexandria, mentioning also an attack on the “Collingwood” and other battles, his work as clerk, a stabbing incident which he describes as follows: ‘One man on board tried to stab another but only cut his toe as he knocked him down, got three months hard labour…’(11 April 1891). Also refers to passing the time by reading and drawing, the assault and death of one of the men at Phalerum Bay, celebration of the Queen’s birthday noting ‘All the ships were “dressed” today – the Queen’s birthday, & at 12 o’clock all the ships saluted with 21 guns each. At sunset they “undressed” ’ (24 May 1891). Also describes the Greek royal family, ‘The Royal family arrived at 9.30 & then the “bowing & scraping” began. The Prince is about 19, & the princess 17 or 18; she has a fat, not particularly nice face. The prince beckons to anybody’s partner who he wants to dance with & they must go’ (1 June 1891) Also describes an execution at Volo, a regatta, going bathing. Also refers to an accident ‘Accident on board H.M.S. “Cordelia”, Australia, 2 officers & 3 men killed, several wounded, 6 inch gun burst’ (14 July 1891), keeping jackdaws, considers his future stating ‘Nothing whatever going on. Am getting a little some contented, but I never could like it, I think. Wish I could foretell what or where I shall be in ten years. See by a letter of Father’s that a person can 
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become a clergyman without going through college…’ (7 August 1891), and on the subject of monotony states ‘That riles me, the endless monotony. At home there was anything to do after work. Skating, dancing, tennis etc…Never appreciated what a fine happy time I had of it till I lost it. Wonder if I shall ever have any of it again’ (9 August 1891). Also refers to a change in uniform stating ‘New uniform regulations have come out, & there are several changes. Clerks have to wear swords, & junior officers waistcoats (evening) are to be edged etc, with gold braid’ (10 November 1891). Contains a number of enclosures including a newspaper cutting, a postcard from his brother Gideon in Davos in Switzerland to his father, Rev Julius H. Griffith at the Rectory in Ennis, County Clare (2 April 1896), greeting cards, a letter from Gerald to his sister Lillie from on board the H.M.S. “Australia” at Malta about gifts, getting dancing lessons from Mrs. Holland, the funeral of the Military Commander-in-Chief, Christmas celebrations, and photography (30 December 1891). Also enclosed is a document outlining arrangements to be made in the event of his death. The volume contains a number of ink sketches of a variety of subjects including people, animals and a family crest.

8 items (including 7 enclosures)
10. 1892 

(currently with depositor)
Diary of Fitzgerald Griffith containing daily 

entries describing life on the Mediterranean on board the H.M.S. “Australia”, with arrival at various 

destinations including Malta, Alexandria, Phalerum, Gibraltar and Genoa, referring to correspondence sent and received, his daily accountancy work, gun practice, picnics and dances noting ‘Went to Club dance at 9pm, not so crowded with military officers as last. Lots of ladies, but I only danced 7 dances as did not like to try the waltz with ladies I did not know well…’ (12 January 1892), doing the intermediate examination, the death of the Duke of Clarence and Avondale, reading, a telegram from the captain of the H.M.S. “Victoria” noting difficulties, going to the opera, adjustments to his frock coat, taking up photography, stating ‘I took two photographs of the harbour after lunch, & in the afternoon. I mixed the developers & developed the plates which came out very well & clear, with no fog. The detail is also very good indeed. I washed them for some time & then left them to dry’ (11 March 1892), also describes a fire at home in the rectory (19 April 1892), the sinking of the Collier noting ‘In the afternoon when the collier was going alongside the “Edinburgh” she went too far ahead & the strong wind blew her straight amidships on the ram of the “Edinburgh”. She was soon found to be in a sinking condition & the officers of the “Edinburgh” taking charge they tried to beach her…she sank in about an hour’ (27 May 1892). In addition, he describes some of the places they visit, stating ‘After lunch we proceeded to Santorin. The largest island is like a horseshoe, & in the bay are several little islands of cinders. The group is volcanic & an island appeared a few years ago. The inside of the horseshoe is almost perpendicular cliff with different coloured strata of earth, & on the cliff edge are several large towns of pure white houses…’ (8 June 1892), also refers to playing the bells, also refers to a duel stating ‘Duel between an Englishman & a Greek officer in which the latter was killed. The latter insulted the Englishman’ (10 July 1892), problems with sharks noting ‘This place seems to be infested with fair-sized sharks. Before bathing the centre ships of each line fire a small charge of guncotton near, & at intervals of 1½ minutes all the other ships do so also, to drive the sharks from the anchorage’ (12 July 1892), elections in England, celebrations of the 400th anniversary of the discovery of America by Columbus. In addition, the diary consists of a detailed description a bull fight at Cadiz, stating ‘The ring is an immense circular building – open at the top. There 
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were about 8 or 10,000 people there. It is a cruel & revolting sport. The bull first comes in, & there are Toriadors in the ring with coloured cloths, & they don’t seem to come in for much danger, as it is the cloth, held at arms length for which the bull goes. There are then several blindfolded horses in the ring, with riders on their backs, & their only object seems to be something for the bull to gore. He rushes at the poor animals who can’t see him, & rips them up, then entrails trailing all over the ground. The more he rips them up the more the people cheer…’ (31 July 1892), on the subject of Spanish ladies he says ‘None of us have seen any of the beauty which the Spanish ladies are said to possess. They are not even passable’ (15 August 1892), the murder of an American seaman in Genoa, use of one of his photographs of ships attending the Columbus festivities at Genoa by The Daily Graphic, regattas, visit to Cadiz by the Queen, going to the dentist, calling on friends, move from the “Australia” to the “Orion”, the Governor’s and Commander-in-Chief’s inspection, Christmas activities and going to the opera. Contains enclosures including one postcard from Gerald to his brother Gideon, and six dance cards mostly for the Malta Union Club. Also includes a number of ink sketches mostly of sea vessels.

8 items (including seven enclosures)
11. 1893


(currently with depositor)
Diary of Fitzgerald Griffith containing daily 

entries describing life on the Mediterranean on board a number of sea vessels including the H.M.S. 

“Orion”, “Australia”, “Sans Pareil”, “Edgar”, and his arrival at destinations such as Malta, Naples, Syracuse, Gibraltar, and Salonica. Refers to correspondence sent and received, work duties, going to the opera, dancing classes, going to the dentist, the stabbing of one of the “Colossus” seamen by a Maltese Militiaman, ordering clothes, going to the library, the fate of Admiral Fairfax noting ‘Court-Martial acquitted Admiral Fairfax, as they always acquit officers in the higher ranks of the service, especially when they run ships ashore’ (11 January 1893), taking photographs, the weather, health matters, situation in Africa, noting ‘There seems to be great excitement about this Khedives business; also about Tangier. The forces are to be increased in Egypt’ (23 January 1893), an earthquake at Zante and the response of the “Camperdown” stating ‘There was a telegram to say that there had been a great earthquake at Zante, & the “Camperdown” which was coming to Malta from the Levant was signalled to come in at full speed & prepare to depart again at ditto. She was filled with stores etc for the relief of the people of Zante…’ (1 February 1893), attending a carnival, performing bells at the opera house in aid of the earthquake sufferers, appointment to H.M.S. “Sans Pareil” stating ‘Like this ship very much, wish I was staying in her. She is perhaps a little too easy going; but still very nice’ (8 March 1893), an execution noting ‘Maltese militiaman hanged today for murder of Bluejacket. First execution for about 10 or 12 years here’ (13 March 1893), etching work, getting a bad cold, appointment to the H.M.S. “Surprise”, illness of his brother Gideon, on the subject of Home Rule, he states ‘Home rule bill has passed the second readings, worse luck’ (24 April 1893), appointment to H.M.S. “Edgar”, photographs for the Daily Graphic, torpedo and target practice, having picnics and going bathing, court of enquiry, fire on the hillside of Marmarice, the heat, ill health. In addition, Griffith describes the loss of “Victoria” as follows ‘At 3.30 in the afternoon a terrible

catastrophe occurred; in changing column the “Camperdown” rammed the“Victoria” [abreast] of her turret guns starboard. She backed out & in a few 

minutes the “Victorias” forecastle was under water; she turned round towards the shore which was 7 miles distance funnels broke off & turret rolled out but to everyones  horror she capsized in ten minutes & sank with a terrible rush, 
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carrying with her the Commander-in-Chief, and about 20 officers, & 400 men. Several jumped as she was capsizing, but some of them were killed by the 

revolving screw…There was a terrible explosion about ½ a minute after she sank…& sent several people to the bottom; boats were soon on the scene & about 270 persons picked up, some badly hurt’ (22 June 1893), also referring to funerals, the search for bodies, a troublesome cough, and his two paintings of the Victoria disaster. The last entry in the diary dates from 28 June 1893. Contains enclosures including a registered post certificate, and six dance cards. Also includes a number of ink sketches mostly of sea vessels.

8 items (including 7 enclosures)
IV.
Photographs

12.
[1892]



Black and white three-quarter length portrait of





Fitzgerald Griffith in full naval dress, complete with 

hat, frockcoat and sword, taken in studio of Richard 

Ellis, Photographer, in Malta.

1 item

13.
[1893].



Black and white glass plate negative of the loss of 

the H.M.S. “Victoria”, the flagship sinking after being rammed by the H.M.S. “Camperdown”, drawn by 

W.L. Weyllie, A.R.A. from sketches by [Fitzgerald Griffith] who witnessed the scene.

1 item

14.
1909



Two copies of a black and white full-length portrait 

of Britain Lougheed and Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Lougheed (née Griffith) on their 

wedding day.

2 items

15.
1909



Black and white seated portrait of Britain Lougheed 

and Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Lougheed (née Griffith) in a seated position on their wedding day.

1 item

16.
c.1909



Three copies of a black and white head and 

shoulder portrait of Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Griffith, taken in the studio of William Lawrence in 

Dublin.

3 items

17.
c.1909



Black and white three-quarter length portrait of 

Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Lougheed in oriental costume taken in the studio of William Lawrence in 

Dublin.








1 item

18.
[Early 1900s]


Black and white group portrait of Britain Lougheed 

with friends, some of which are seated on the grass holding tennis rackets, and others are standing.

1 item
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19.      
[Early 1900s]


Black and white photograph of a group of men and

women seated in a garden with tennis rackets.

1 item

20.           n.d.

Black and white photograph of Rev. Britain 

Lougheed in front of a car with Brian Lougheed at [Clara House, County Offaly].

1 item

21.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Rev. Britain 

Lougheed and a group people including two children seated in a car in the foreground.

1 item

22.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Clara House in 

County Offaly

1 item

23.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Clara House in 

County Offaly

1 item

24.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of the gardens at Clara 

House in County Offaly

1 item

25.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Marguerite Violet 

Gwendoline Lougheed and Brian Lougheed seated outside Clara House in County Offaly.

1 item

26
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Rev. Britain 

Lougheed and Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Lougheed with their dog standing at the entrance of 

Clara House in County Offaly.

1 item

27
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Rev. Britain 

Lougheed with his dog standing in front of an arched doorway carrying a rifle over his left 

shoulder.

1 item

28.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Marguerite Violet 

Gwendoline Lougheed seated on the steps of [Clara House in County Offaly] with two dogs.

2 items

29.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Rev. Britain 

Lougheed in his hat and scarf.

1 item
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30.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Marguerite Violet 

Gwendoline Lougheed having a picnic in [Connemara in County Galway] with friends.

1 item

31.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of Rev. Britain de 

Gorrequer.

1 item

32.
c. 1920s


Two copies of a black and white photograph of 

Ardnacrusha station in County Clare under construction.

2 items

33.
c. 1920s


Black and white photograph of Ardnacrusha station 

in County Clare under construction.

1 item

34.
[Early 1900s]


Black and white photograph of a man and woman 

standing beside an oriental monument.








1 item

35.
n.d.



Black and white photograph of St. Columba’s 

Church in Ennis, County Clare.

1 item

V. Other Documents

36.
20 September 1857

Ordination certificate of Rev. Julius Henry Griffith as 

Priest by Marcus Gerbais, the Lord Bishop of Kilmore, Elphin and Ardagh. Contains the Episcopal 

seal. 

1 item

37.
[9 August 1928]

Postcard from Willie [ ] from Roundstone, County 

Galway, to Ivy Fetherston regarding a parcel, health matters and the weather.

1 item

38.
22 May 1940


National registration identity card in the name of 

Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Lougheed of St. Margaret’s Rectory in County Derry.

1 item

39.
16 September 1943

Travel permit card for travel between Ireland and 

the United Kingdom in the name of Marguerite Violet Gwendoline Lougheed of Clara House, Clara, 

County Offaly. Contains black and white photograph of Marguerite and a number of stamps.

1 item
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40.
n.d.



Blank postcard with a picture of [ ] in full uniform.

1 item

41.
n.d.



Blank postcard with a picture of the courthouse in 

Ennis, County Clare.








1 item

Merriman School Papers 
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To be processed

Limburg Collection

PP/7

1.
[1915-1916, 2001]

Photographs and reference material relating to 

the prisoner of war camp at Limburg in Germany where Irish prisoners were assembled from camps 

throughout Germany during the First World War to form an Irish Brigade. Contains three photographs with Father Thomas John Crotty and his congregation, including one of the silver jubilee of Crotty’s ordination to the priesthood, an article by Tony O’Brien in The Old Limerick Journal, and extract from My Four Years in Germany by James W. Gerard, United States Ambassador to Germany.



5 items

Hayes Papers
PP/8/

1.
29 September 1920

Letter from Maura O’Dwyer of Lahinch to her sister 

Nora O’Dwyer a medical student in Dublin, describing in great detail the burning of Lahinch by 

the Black and Tans, its impact on her family and friends and the period that followed, stating ‘The next thing we heard was a bomb exploding in the shop, and in less than half a minute the house was in flames. Joe ran into the room off the drawing room for his shoes, but already the flames were coming through. He and Aunt Nora rushed up to the top of the house to rescue Mary. I ran down to see which way was clear for us to escape. I opened the hall-door, peeped out, and saw that we had a good chance of escaping that way unnoticed. By this time, Aunt Nora, Mary, and Joe had reached the first landing, but the flames were so suffocating, that Aunt Nora fell and said that she couldn’t go any farther. I ran up the stairs, shouted to Aunt Nora to throw me the baby, and called to Joe to drag Aunt Nora down. In this way we escaped with our lives.’ Maura also gives an account of attacks on some of her neighbours saying the following ‘When they left our house they burned Halpin’s and Howard’s. They then lit their cigarettes and ran up the hill shouting for the Lehan’s. They dragged poor old Dan Lehan out of his bed, brought him out on the hill, and in the presence of his poor wife, shot him in the head because he would not tell where his sons were. At that time poor Pake was burned alive in Flanagan’s house, R.I.P…’ Letter is written in English but contains some lines in Irish and some words are underlined.










11 pp.

2.
n.d.



Blank membership form for the Ailtirí na hAiséirge


in both Irish and English.


1p.

The Inchiquin Papers

PP/9

Introduction

Clare County Archives acquired a collection of great historical significance in September 2005 relating to the Dromoland branch of the O’Brien family. 

With a family pedigree that is amongst the oldest in Europe, the O’Briens of Dromoland are direct descendants of Brian Boroimhe, High King of Ireland. The Dalcassians, originally known as the Ui Toirdealbhaigh, became prominent with the rise of Brian, taking his name as their surname on his death in 1014 fighting the Vikings at Clontarf. Brian was descended by a line of kings of Thomond
, one of the foremost Gaelic Lordships of Ireland during Medieval times with a geographical spread that encompassed the present County Clare as well as much of Tipperary and Limerick.
 In 1543, however, Murrough O’Brien availed of Henry VIII’s ‘surrender and regrant’ policy, and surrendered his ancestral land to the crown. O’Brien received his land back as a feudal grant and was given the title of first earl of Thomond for his own life and Baron of Inchiquin for his life and that of his descendants.
 He also received the castle and lands at Dromoland.

The senior branches of the O’Briens included: the earls of Thomond; the viscounts O’Briens of Clare; the O’Briens of Dough and Ennistymon; the barons and earls of Inchiquin; and the Leamaneh or Dromoland O’Briens.
 As well as being descendants of Brian Boroimhe, the Dromoland branch of the O’Brien family can also claim descent from the ancient royal families of both England and Scotland, and have family connections with the present royal family of Britain.
 The most powerful branch of the O’Brien family moved to Dromoland Castle in the seventeenth century and remained there for over three centuries. In 1962, the castle and three hundred and thirty acres of its surrounding land were sold to an American industrialist. Major renovations transformed the ancestral home into a luxury hotel. The Dromoland O’Brien line continues to the present day.

The Inchiquin Collection consists of deeds relating to property for the most part, including leases, resettlements of estates, appointments of attorney, receipts, disentailing deeds and marriage settlements. The documents span over a century, dating from 1854 to 1954, and reflect the land transactions of several members of the O’Brien family of Dromoland Castle. These include the Right Hon. Lucius Lord Baron Inchiquin, the Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin, the Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin, and the Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster Lord Baron Inchiquin. 

The leases address land matters in Newmarket-on-Fergus, Corofin, Clarecastle, Sixmilebridge and Kilnaboy, and provide a glimpse of the estate’s dealings with all strands of society, from coal merchants and farmers to doctors and bishops. The collection includes a lease dated 25 September 1875, between the Right Hon. Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Patrick McInerney, farmer of Ballyconnelly, for a house and premises at Newmarket-on-Fergus for the duration of ninety years at the yearly rent of £3.0.0. Another lease dated 3 April 1880, between the Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin and Edmond Frost of Beechlawn, medical doctor, describes part of 
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the lands of Ballinacraggy containing four acres one rood statute measure, complete with a dwelling house and out offices, for thirty-one years at the yearly rent of £20 sterling. The collection reflects the Dromoland family’s involvement in issues affecting their local community such as religion and education. Of particular interest are their dealings with the church. A lease dated 4 October 1902, from the Right Hon. Lucius William Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the Most Reverend Thomas J. McRedmond of Ashline House, Ennis, Roman Catholic Bishop of Killaloe and the Reverend James Kennedy of Newmarket-on-Fergus, Roman Catholic Administrator, focuses on part of lands of Newmarket-on-Fergus containing one rood for ninety-nine years at the yearly rent of one penny. A deed from the Right Hon. Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the Representative Church Body dating 8 May 1919 outlines the terms and conditions for leasing a dwelling house, offices and portions of land adjoining the same containing about one acre and twenty-two perches in the parish of Kilnaboy for ninety-nine years to be used as a site for a residence of the Church of Ireland clergyman in the parish of Kilkeedy (Corofin) in the Diocese of Killaloe, and for the yearly rent of £5. 

The O’Brien family also had business dealings with the Commissioners of National Education in Ireland. A lease dating 19 January 1857 from the Right Hon. Lucius Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Robert O’Brien, also of Dromoland Castle, Esquire, patron of the intended Carron National School, grants unto the Commissioners land in the townland of Ballyconree in the parish of Carron for the lives of Queen Victoria, Prince Albert, Prince of Wales, and the survivor of them or thirty-one years, at a yearly rent of one penny.

In addition to leases, the Inchiquin Collection contains other material of interest including resettlements of estates in County Clare on the marriage of the Right Hon. Lucius William Smith and the Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster. Other documents address issues concerning power of attorney and the appointment of trustees, and include a deed dated 8 March 1911 transferring a sum of money from the Hon. Eileen O’Brien to the Right Hon. Lady Inchiquin, raisable out of the settled estates of Lord Inchiquin as one of the younger children of the second marriage of the late Lord Inchiquin.

The Inchiquin Collection provides a fascinating insight into the property dealings of one of Ireland’s most ancient families during the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. 

A closure period has been imposed on some of the more recent documents.
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I. Leases

1. Parties: Right Hon. Henry Earl of Thomond and Right Hon. Sir 

Donatus O’Brien, Baronet, of Dromoland.

Property: Castles, towns and lands of Dromoland.

Terms & Conditions: £60 sterling plus additional costs. 

Date: 26 September 1712.

Size: 7pp.

Other: Copy.

2.
Parties: Sir Lucius O’Brien of Dromoland Castle, Baronet, to Patrick O’Mealy of Newmarket.

Property: Two houses in Newmarket.

Terms & Conditions: For the term of thirty-one years and for and during the natural lives of Edward Singleton, eldest son of Hugh Singleton of Hazlewood, Thomas McMahon eldest son of John McMahon of Firgrove and Patrick J. Coffee the eldest son of John Coffee concurrent at yearly rent of £2.10.0 sterling.

Date: 23 May 1854.

Size: 2pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

3.
Parties: Right Hon. Lucius Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle, Robert O’Brien of Dromoland Castle, Esquire, patron of intended Carron National School, and Commissioners of National Education in Ireland.


Property: Grants unto Commissioners land in townland of Ballyconree in parish of Carron and barony of Burren.


Terms & Conditions: For lives of present Majesty Queen Victoria, his Royal Highness Prince Albert, and Royal Highness Prince of Wales, and survivor of them or thirty-one years, at yearly rent of one penny. 


Date: 19 January 1857.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Contains map.

4.
Parties: Right Hon. Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to John Flanagan of Newmarket, shopkeeper.


Property: Two houses in the town of Newmarket-on-Fergus in barony of Bunratty.



Terms & Conditions: For twenty-one years for yearly rent of £8 sterling.


Date: 16 November 1864.

Size: 2pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

5. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Timothy Roberts of Corofin.


Property: Tenement in Roberts’ occupation on which he has lately built a slated house with garden at rear in townland of Laghtagoona in town of Corofin.
Terms & Conditions: For ninety years at yearly rent of £1.4.0.


Date: 17 February 1868.

Size: 2pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.
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6. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Timothy Kelly of Clarecastle, coal merchant.

Property: House and yard known as Greene’s tenement in village of Clare, parish of Clare Abbey.
Terms & Conditions: For forty years at yearly rent of £2.12.0 sterling.


Date: 21 December 1869.

Size: 2pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

7. Parties: Right Hon. Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to John Doyle of Newmarket.

Property: Dwelling house in Newmarket lately rebuilt by Doyle. 

Terms & Conditions: Thirty-one years at yearly rent of £1.10.0.

Date: 9 November 1870.

Size: 3pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains a loose map.

8. Parties: Right Hon. Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Patrick McInerney, farmer, of Ballyconnelly.
Property: House and premises at Newmarket-on-Fergus.

Terms & Conditions: For ninety years for yearly rent of £3.

Date: 25 September 1875.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

9. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Michael Rourke of Newmarket-on-Fergus, shopkeeper. 
Property: Dwelling house and premises at Newmarket-on-Fergus in parish of Tomfinlough and barony of Bunratty Lower.

Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at £2.9.6. 

Date: 16 November 1875.

Size: 3pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

10. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Right Reverend John McEvilly of Galway, Roman Catholic Bishop of Galway and Apostolic Administrator of Diocese of Kilmacduagh and Kilfenora.

Property: Part of town and land of Carroweragh including small house and garden containing one acre and twelve perches Irish plantation measure, in parish of Kilshanny in barony of Corcomroe.
Terms & Conditions: For ninety years at yearly rent of £3.5.0 clear over and above all taxes, charges, etc.

Date: 10 June 1876.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

11.
Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Aquila McMahon, Esquire.
Property: Land to east of Main Street in Newmarket.
Terms & Conditions: Forever at yearly rent of £0.0.6.

Date: 27 June 1876.

Size: 6pp.

Other: Fee farm lease. Signed, sealed and contains map.
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12.
Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Aquila McMahon, Esquire 

Property: Plot of ground in Newmarket
Terms & Conditions: Forever at £1 sterling.

Date: 28 June 1876.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Fee farm lease. Signed, sealed and contains map.

13. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Edmond Frost of Beechlawn, medical doctor.
Property: Part of lands of Ballinacraggy containing four acres one rood statute measure with the dwelling house and out offices in parish of Kilnasoolagh in barony of Lower Bunratty.
Terms & Conditions: For thirty-one years for yearly rent of £20 sterling.

Date: 3 April 1880.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed.

14. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Thomas Fitzgerald of Kilrush, merchant.
Property: House and premises in the village of Clarecastle. 

Terms & Conditions: For thirty-one years at £5.

Date: 10 February 1881.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

15. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Michael McMaster of Clarecastle.

Property: House and premises situated in Clarecastle in barony of islands.

Terms & Conditions: For ninety years at £4.

Date: 22 November 1881.

Size: 3pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

16. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Margaret Considine of Clarecastle 
Property: Plot of ground in village of Clarecastle with small garden to the rear.

Terms & Conditions: For thirty-one years at yearly rent of £1.

Date: 15 November 1888.

Size: 3pp.

Other: Signed, sealed.

17. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the guardians of Corofin Union. 
Property: Ten perches statute measure of lands in Kells in parish of Kilkeedy in barony of Inchiquin.

Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at yearly rent of £1 sterling.

Date: 22 January 1890.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.
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18. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the guardians of Corofin Union. 

Property: Ten perches statute measure of lands in Kells in parish of Kilkeedy in barony of Inchiquin. 

Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at yearly rent of £1 sterling.

Date: 3 March 1890.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Counterpart lease. Signed, sealed and contains map. 

19. Parties: Right Hon. Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Thomas Frost of Sixmilebridge, Clerk of Petty Sessions.

Property: Plot of ground with eight houses and buildings situated at Pound Street, Sixmilebridge.

Terms & Conditions: For twenty-one years at yearly rent of £10 sterling. 

Date: 8 July 1891.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 

20. 7 September 1894

Map of plot of land showing site of teacher’s 

residence in townland of Croughwell, containing area of two roods and four perches statute measure

and a printed map of the area.






2 items

21. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to William Harding of Clarecastle. 
Property: House and haggard at Clarecastle.

 Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at yearly rent of £3.5.0. 

Date: 28 October 1895.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 

22. Parties: Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle and James Connellan of Ennis. 
Property: Waterpark House in Ennis and out offices and lands attached.

 Terms & Conditions: At a yearly rent of £25.

Date: 18 January 1896.

Size: 3pp.

Other: Signed agreement.
23. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the Most Reverend Thomas J. McRedmond of Ashline House, Roman Catholic Bishop of Killaloe.

Property: Part of lands of Sixmilebridge containing approximately forty perches in parish of Kilfinaghta, barony of Bunratty Lower. 

Terms & Conditions: For ninety-nine years at yearly rent of £2. 

Date: 1 October 1901.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 

PP/9

24. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Most Reverend Thomas J. McRedmond of Ashline House, Ennis, Roman Catholic Bishop of Killaloe and the Reverend James Kennedy of Newmarket-on-Fergus, Roman Catholic Administrator.

Property: Part of lands of Newmarket containing one rood or thereabouts.

Terms & Conditions: For ninety-nine years at yearly rent of one penny. 

Date: 4 October 1902.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and map. 

25. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to William Halpin of Newmarket-on-Fergus, farmer.

Property: House, premises and garden containing approximately nine square perches in village of Newmarket-on-Fergus in parish of Tomfinlough in barony of Bunratty Lower. 

Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at yearly rent of £1.10.0

Date: 17 May 1904.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Signed, sealed.

26. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Michael Cusack of Newmarket-on-Fergus.
Property: Dwelling house, yard and garden at rear twenty-two perches statute measure in town of Newmarket, parish of Kilnasoolagh in barony of Lower Bunratty. 

Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at yearly rent of £1.10.0. 

Date: 14 April 1906.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 

27. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Mary Monahan of Corofin.

Property: House and garden containing ten perches statute measure at Baunkyle in town of Corofin in the parish of Killinaboy.

Terms & Conditions: For sixty years at yearly rent of £3.10.0.

Date: 11 August 1906.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Counterpart lease. Signed, sealed and contains map. 

28. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to John Alfred Studdert of Cragmoher and Marcus Wyndham Paterson, Esquire of Clifden. 
Property: Dwelling house, offices and portion of land adjoining containing about three roods and twenty two perches statute measure in the parish of Kilnaboy in the barony of Inchiquin.

Date: 2 March 1908.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 

Closed until March 2008 
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29. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the Most Reverend Thomas O’Dea, D.D. Roman Catholic Bishop of Galway and Kilmacduogh and Apostolic Administrator of Kilfenora, the Reverend William Cassidy, Administrator of the parish of Carron, County Clare, the Very Reverend Anthony John Considine, Administrator, and Vica Forane of College House Galway and the Reverend Peter Davis, President of St. Mary’s College in Galway.

Property: Parts of lands of Ballyconree containing three roods and nine perches in parish of Carron in barony of Burren, with premises.

Date: 31 December 1912.

Size: 7pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 


Closed until December 2012

30. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Katherine Jane Neville of Newmarket-on-Fergus, spinster.

Property: Dwelling house, offices and small garden in Newmarket-on-Fergus in the parish of Kilnasoolagh. 

Date: 13 December 1913.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map. 

Closed until December 2013

31. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Mary A. Curtis of Corofin, married woman

Property: Dwelling house, office and small garden in town of Corofin in parish of Kilnaboy and barony of Inchiquin.

Date: 23 May 1914.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed.

Closed until May 2014

32. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to the Representative Body of the Church of Ireland.

Property: Dwelling house, offices and portions of land adjoining the same containing about one acre and twenty-two perches statute measure in the parish of Kilnaboy in barony of Inchiquin.

Date: 8 May 1919.

Size: 5pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

Closed until May 2019

33.
Parties: Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster Lord Baron Inchiquin and Most Reverend Michael Fogarty of Westbourne, Ennis, Roman Catholic Bishop of Killaloe.

Property: Part of lands of Sixmilebridge containing forty perches situated in the parish of Kilfinaghta, barony of Bunratty Lower.

Date: 9 January 1931

Size: 3pp.

Other: Duplicate of deed supplemental to lease dated 1 October 1901.


 Closed until January 2031
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34. Parties: Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Patrick Higgins of Sixmilebridge, farmer. 

Property: Plot of ground with dwelling house in the town of Sixmilebridge in barony of Bunratty Lower. 

Date: 31 October 1935.

Size: 7pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

Closed until October 2035

35. Parties: Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle to Margaret Moorhead of Corofin, spinister. 
Property: Parcel of ground with the dwelling house and offices in town of Corofin in barony of Inchiquin and at present occupied by the Garda Síochána as a Garda Barracks.

Date: 16 April 1937.

Size: 12pp.

Other: Signed, sealed and contains map.

Closed until April 2037
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II. Other Documents

36. Parties: Agreement between Francis Morice, of Springfield in County Clare, Esquire, of first part, William Spaight of Derry Castle in County Tipperary, Esquire, of second part, William Henry Wilson Fitzgerald of Cliff Hall in County of York, Esquire, of third part and Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle and John Gerald Wilson of Cliff Hall, Esquire, of fourth part.

Property: Farm and lands of East [Inq.] amounting to one hundred and twenty-seven acres, three roods and nineteen perches plus nineteen acres one rood and twenty-six perches of marshy ground and sixty-nine acres of slob or unprofitable ground, in parish of Kilnasoolagh in barony of Bunratty. 

Terms & Conditions: Granting Baron Inchiquin and Wilson yearly rent charge of £150 and two pence over and above income tax.

Date: 2 April 1875.

Size: 6pp.

Other: Signed, sealed.

37. Parties: Mortgage between Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle and Robert Vere O’Brien, Esquire.

Property: The castle, mansion house, demense, and lands of Dromoland.

Terms and conditions: Mortgage of life estate in hereditaments in the county of Clare and two policies of assurance to secure £6000 and interest between.

Date: 17 November 1892

Size: 8pp.


Other: Signed, and sealed.

38. 13 January 1896


Copy of resettlement of estates in County Clare

between Right Hon. Edward Donough Lord Baron Inchiquin, the Hon. Lucius William O’Brien of 

Dromoland Castle, Ethel Jane Foster of Moor Park near Ludlow in the county of Salop, Spinster, and the hon. Edward Donough O’Brien of Dromoland Castle and Thomas George Stacpoole Mahon of Carbally in County Clare, Justice of the Peace and Deputy Lieutenant, on the marriage of the Hon. Lucius W. O’Brien with Miss Foster. 

34pp.

39. 10 August 1906


Agreement between James Fitzgerald Bannatyne of 

Halden in County Devon, Esquire, D.L., and his wife Emily Gertrude Bannatyne of the first part, Right 

Hon. Lionel Edward Massey, Baron Clarina of second part, William Henry Wilson Fitzgerald of Chalcomber Banbury in county of Northhampton, Esquire, Murrough John Wilson of Cliffe Hall, Darlington in County Durham, Esquire, Edward Chaytor Sowerby of Sudbourgh Thrapston in county of Northhampton, Esquire, of the third part, and Alexander Edmund Bannatyne of Glen Bevan, Croom, in County Limerick, Esquire, of the fourth part regarding the appointment of Alexander Edmund Bannatyne as new trustee of an indenture of settlement dated 16 December 1878. Signed and sealed.

5pp.
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40. 8 March 1911 


Agreement between Hon. Eileen O’Brien of Sloane 

street in county of London, spinster, of the first part, Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of 

the second part and Right Hon. Lady Inchiquin of the third part transferring a sum of money raisable out of the settled estates of Lord Inchiquin for the Hon. Eileen O’Brien as one of the younger children of the second marriage of the late Lord Inchiquin. Signed and sealed. Closed until March 2011

6pp.

41. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius Lord Baron Inchiquin of Dromoland Castle and the Representative Church Body of Ireland.

Property: Dwelling house, offices and portions of land adjoining in parish of Kilnaboy in barony of Inchiquin containing one acre and twenty-two perches statute measure, and secondly the dwelling house and garden and ruins thereon including the house occupied by Mrs Long as weekly tenant situated in Corofin in parish of Kilvoydane in barony of Inchiquin.

Date: 6 April 1921.

Size: 4pp.

Other: Copy of a lease.

Closed until April 2021

42.
Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William 15th Lord Baron Inchiquin of first part, the Hon. Donough Edward Foster O’Brien of second part, and Henry Robert Tweedy, Esquire, of third part.

Property: Copy of disentailing deed of the Dromoland estate in County Clare. The castles, towns, lands, messuages, franchises, and hereditaments, fee farm and other yearly rents and benefits of all mines, minerals and other privileges.

Date: 10 December 1921.

Size: 11pp.

Closed until December 1921

43.
12 December 1921

Copy of settlement of the Moor Park Estate in the 

counties of Salop and Hereford between the Hon. Donough Edward Foster O’Brien of Dromoland 

Castle of the first part, the Hon. Anne Molyneux Thesiger of 116 Eaton Square in city of Westminister, spinster, of the second part, the Hon. Phadrig Lucius O’Brien of Dromoland Castle, Marmaduke Capper Matthews of 32 Queen Victoria Street in city of London, Esquire, Alan Frederick Lascelles of 29 Oxford Square in county of London, captain in His Majesty’s army, M.C., and Alexander Guy Hemsley of 32 St. James Place in city of Westminister, Esquire, of the third part, on the marriage of Hon. Donough Edward Foster O’Brien and the Hon. Anne Molyneux Thesiger. Closed until December 2021
17pp.
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44. 12 December 1921

Copy of resettlements of estates in the county of 

Clare between the Right Hon. Lucius William 15th Lord Baron Inchiquin of the first part, the Hon. 

Donough Edward Foster O’Brien of Dromoland Castle of the second part, the Hon. Anne Molyneux Thesiger of 116 Eaton Square in city of Westminister, spinster, daughter of the Right Hon. Frederick John Napier Viscount Chelmsford of the third part and the Hon. Phoedrig Lucius O’Brien of Dromoland Castle, Alan Frederick Lascelles, M.C., of 29 Oxford Square in county of London, a captain in His Majesty’s army,m Alexander Guy Hemsley of 32 St. James Place in city of Westminster, Esquire, and Francis Conyngham Pilkington of 9 Belgrave Road, Monkstown, in county of Dublin, solicitor, of the fourth part, upon the marriage of the Hon. Donough Edward Foster O’Brien with the Hon. Anne M. Thesiger. Closed until December 2021

20pp.

45. Parties: Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of first part, Hon. Edward Donough O’Brien of Oakhill House, Oakhill, in county of Somerset of second part and Michael Comyn of 9 Northbrook Road, Leeson Park, in county of Dublin, Esquire, K.C., of third part. 

Property: Option of mining leases in any of the townlands in which workable minerals may be found in the baronies of Corcomroe, Inchiquin and Burren in county of Clare. 

Date: 1 April 1926.

Size: 11pp.

Other: Signed.

Closed until April 2026

46. 7 January 1927


Copy of the Appointment of Murrough O’Brien as a 

new trustee of the resettlement dated 13 January 1896 of estates in County Clare executed on 

marriage of Lord Inchiquin and supplemental to that resettlement, between the Right Hon. Lucius William Lord Baron Inchiquin of first part, Hon. Edward Donough O’Brien of Oakhill House, Oakhill, Bath, in county of Somerset of second part, and Hon. Murrough O’Brien of 15 Cockspur Street, London, D.S.O., M.V.O., Lieutenant Colonel in His Majesty’s army of the third part. Closed until January 1927
6pp.

47
20 September 1930
Receipt for partial sum of a larger charge for younger children paid to the trustees of the Hon. Edward Donough O’Brien’s marriage settlement.

Closed until September 2030
2pp.

48. 11 November 1932

Appointment of trustee of the term of 2000 years in 

settlement of 28 January 1874, between Hon. Edward Donough 
O’Brien of Oakhill House, 

Oakhill, Bath, in county of Somerset, of first part, and Hon. Murrough O’Brien of 15 Cockspur Street in London, D.S.O., M.V.O., Lieutenant Colonel in His Majesty’s army, of second part. Signed and sealed. Closed until November 2032

3pp.
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49. December 1933


Acknowledgement and receipt regarding the 

payment to Doreen Coke of her share of the net interest on land bonds on completion of sale 

through Irish Land Commission of the Inchiquin Estate. Closed until December 2033
2pp.

50. December 1933


Acknowledgement and receipt regarding the 

payment to Beatrice Marchese de Monte Corona  of her share of the net interest on land bonds on 

completion of sale through Irish Land Commission of the Inchiquin Estate. Closed until December 2033
2pp.

51. December 1933


Acknowledgement and receipt regarding the 

payment to Maud O’Brien of her share of the net interest on land bonds on completion of sale 

through Irish Land Commission of the Inchiquin Estate. Closed until December 2033
2pp.

52. 1 July 1940


Copy of power of attorney from Right Hon. Donough 

Edward Foster Baron Inchiquin to Percy Errington Wales Saint of 13 Clarence Street, Gloucester Land 

Agent. Closed until July 2040
8pp.

53. 27 September 1941

Release of portions of charge between 

Hon. Katherine Beryl Gallagher, wife of John Francis Patrick Gallagher, Hon. Phaedrig Lucius 

Ambrose O’Brien of Kenya in East Africa, Hon. Fionn Myles Maryons O’Brien of the Old House in Westcott, Dorking, in county of Surrey, Hon. Griselda Etheldreda Clodagh O’Brien, carer of Lloyds Bank at 16 St James Street in London, Spinster, Hon. Finvola Helga Laetitia Monica Ethelburga O’Brien, also carer of Lloyds Bank, spinster, of the first part, Hon. Edward Donough O’Brien of Oakhill House, Oakhill in county of Somerset, of second part, Hon. Edward Donough O’Brien and Fitzgerald Blood of Ballyquilty Quin in county of Clare, of third part, and Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster 16th Lord Baron Inchiquin of fourth part. Closed until September 2041

16pp.

54. 7 March 1942


Power of Attorney appointing John Henry Sides of 

13 Hume Street in city of Dublin, Solicitor, to be attorney for the Hon. Phaedrig Lucius Ambrose 

O’Brien of Kipkarren, Kenya, in East Africa, for six months and to execute an Indenture of Release. Includes the sworn oath of witness, P.B. McDonald. Closed until March 2042

4pp.
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55. 22 April 1954


Photocopy of articles of agreement between Horace 

Beecher Chapin of 106 East 81st Street in New York 21, New York, United States of America, Medical 

Practitioner, of first part, Hon. Deirdre Jane Francis O’Brien, of Dromoland Castle, spinster, of second part, and Right Hon. Donough Edward Foster 16th Lord Baron Inchiquin and John Henry Sides of 13 Hume Street in Dublin, solicitor, of third part, on marriage of Dr Chapin and Miss O’Brien. Closed until April 2054

10pp.

56. [n.d.]



Draft declaration of the Hon. Doreen Coke of 

Church Cottage, Great Whitcombe, Gloucester, relating to the Inchiquin trusts as one of the children 

of the second marriage of the late Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin under the settlement of 28th January 1874.

2pp.

57.
[n.d.]



Draft declaration of the Hon. Beatrice Marchese de 







Monte Corona, wife of the Marquis de Monte 






Corona of Monte Corona, Umbriatide, Umbria in Italy, relating to the Inchiquin trusts as one of the children of the second marriage of the late Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin under the settlement of 28th January 1874.

2pp.

58.
[n.d.]



Draft declaration of the Hon. Maud O’Brien of 22 







Hornton Court, Kensington, London, relating to the 






Inchiquin trusts as one of the children of the second marriage of the late Right Hon. Edward Donough Baron Inchiquin under the settlement of 28th January 1874.

2pp.
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